
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Standards Committee 
 

Date: Tuesday, 14 January 2020 at 6.00 pm 

Venue: HMS Phoebe, Town Hall, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr C R Bungey 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr S Baron 

Cllr M Andrews 
Cllr A Filer 
 

Cllr A Jones 
Cllr C Rigby 
 

Cllr A M Stribley 
 

Independent persons: 

Mr P Cashmore 
 

Mr I Sibley 
 

Mr J Storey 
 

 

All Members of the Standards Committee are summoned to attend this meeting to consider 
the items of business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend. 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Bob Hanton or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n

 t
h

e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

6 January 2020 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Members. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are required to comply with the requirements of the Localism 
Act 2011 and the Council's Code of Conduct regarding Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any other interests where a 
Councillor is a member of an external body or organisation where that 
membership involves a position of control or significant influence, including 
bodies to which the Council has made the appointment in line with the 
Council's Code of Conduct. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 10 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
9 July 2019. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%2
0-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf  

The deadline for the submission of public questions is 7 January 2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is 12.00 noon, 13 January 
2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 12.00 noon,13 January 
2020. 
 

 

5.   Consideration of report in respect of complaint about a councillor 11 - 44 

 This Report provides the Standards Committee with the conclusions of the 
investigation following complaints made about Councillor Lisa Lewis. The 
investigator’s report is attached at Appendix A. The conclusion of the 
investigator is that Councillor Lewis did not breach the Code of Conduct, as 
she was not acting in the capacity of a councillor when sending the relevant 
tweet which resulted in the complaints. 
 

 

6.   Code of Conduct Complaints - Review 45 - 52 

 This report provides Members with an update on complaints regarding 
alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct against councillors received since 
1 April 2019. 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf


 
 

 

The Committee is responsible for maintaining high standards of conduct by 
Members of BCP Council and the Town and Parish Councils, monitoring 
the operation of the Code of Conduct, and considering the outcome of 
commissioned independent investigations. 
 

7.   Declarations of Interest - Guidance Flowchart 53 - 56 

 The Standards Committee is responsible for ethical governance and 
promoting high standards of conduct of councillors. This report was 
deferred from the previous meeting of the committee to allow the flowchart 
to be redrafted in consultation with the committee members. 
This report seeks the approval of the revised guidance flowchart, which 
aims to assist councillors determine whether they have a declarable interest 
and whether participation at a meeting would be appropriate. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 09 July 2019 at 6.00 pm 
 

Present:- 

Cllr C R Bungey – Chairman 

Cllr S Baron – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr M Andrews, Cllr A Filer, Cllr A Jones, Cllr C Rigby and 

Cllr A M Stribley 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

Mr P Cashmore, Mr I Sibley, Mr J Storey 

 
 

1. Election of Chairman  
 
RESOLVED that Cllr C Bungey be elected Chairman of the Standards 
Committee for the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 
 
Voting: For – 4; Against - 3 
 

2. Election of Vice-Chairman  
 
RESOLVED that Cllr S Baron be elected as Vice-Chairman of the 
Standards Committee for the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 
 
Voting: For – 4; Against – 3 
 

3. Apologies  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

4. Declarations of Interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

5. Public Question  
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that a question had been received from Mr 
Conor O’Luby in relation to an item of business on the agenda, it would 
therefore be most appropriate for him to ask it before further discussion 
took place. 
 
“Following the Local Government Ombudsman's rulings that in investigating 
my complaint against Cllr Mike Greene, former Standards Committee Chair 
Cllr Dunlop failed to consult with other members of the Committee and 
withheld information from Cllr Kieron Wilson, can the Committee assure me 
that there will now be a full and fair investigation?” 
 

5

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
09 July 2019 

 
The Chairman gave the following response to Mr O’Luby: 
 
“Thank you for your question. We have a report relating to this issue that 
we will now be considering, which recommends a way forward and I hope 
will provide you with a response to this question.”  
 

6. Review of Complaint  
 
The Monitoring Officer presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
The Monitoring Officer gave a brief overview in regard to the history of the 
complaint and the conclusion drawn by the Local Government Ombudsman 
requiring that Bournemouth Borough Council would need to review the 
complaint and the process by which the original consideration was taken. 
As Bournemouth Borough Council no longer existed, this would need to be 
undertaken by Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council and this 
would be done in accordance with the recommendation detailed in the 
report. 
 
The Monitoring Officer acknowledged that although there was a desire from 
Members to review this complaint quickly, it should not be rushed and 
would be considered appropriately. The Monitoring Officer further 
highlighted that as she had been involved in the process for the complaint 
previously, it would not be appropriate for her to oversee this process and 
therefore it was proposed that the Head of Democratic Services and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer did this on her behalf. She set out the process that would 
be followed by way of working with the Chairman and independent persons, 
before a report was brought back to the next meeting of the Standards 
Committee and reiterated that she would not be taking part. 
 
Members were content with this approach and upon being put to the voter it 
was: 
 
RESOLVED that an independent review be carried out in respect of 
the Complaint made by Mr O’Luby, and that this review consider the 
way in which the Complaint was considered and make 
recommendations to the Committee as to any action required. 
 
Voting: Unanimous 
 

7. Procedure for Initial Complaint Assessment  
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer gave a brief overview of the report which 
highlighted the applicable parts of the constitution and also referred to the 
appendix which set out the process for reviewing complaints. 

6



– 3 – 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
09 July 2019 

 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarification, 
details included: 
 

 Guidance and training would be provided to all Councillors and 
Independent Persons on the Standards Committee in order for them 
to understand how to address all complaints appropriately.  

 The consultation process would be set at a minimum of five days, 
although it may be necessary for this period to be longer on 
occasions where a complaint might be more complex – this process 
would be led by the Chairman with assistance from the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 It would be advisable for Members of the Standards Committee to 
not discuss any complaints about Members with anyone besides the 
relevant officers and the independent persons as this could put them 
in a difficult position. 

 Members that had been complained about would be informed and 
would be permitted to provide an initial response. 

 The Constitution was clear in stating the Chairman was responsible 
for the initial filtering of complaints in consultation with Members of 
the Committee including the Independent Persons and with the 
guidance of the Monitoring Officer or her appointed deputy. This 
process would need to start by email contact initially but, Paragraph 
2 could be amended to state that if after this initial contact, Members 
felt the need to review in further detail, the Chairman would need to 
make a decision as to whether or not to facilitate such a request. 
This method would likely be more efficient in the event of multiple 
complaints at the same time. 

 May need to review workings of standards process over the course 
of the next few months which would include a training session 
booked for mid-September. 

 Timelines included within the appendix were in line with guidance 
from the ombudsman service, they were discretionary and could be 
amended or removed if Members wished for this to happen.  

 Complaints would ideally need to be received by online form as it set 
out a structure for the complainant to utilise which would allow the 
complaint to be assessed correctly. If an email complaint was 
received that met the required criteria, this would also be accepted, 
although complainants would always be encouraged to use the 
prescribed form to ensure that all elements were covered in their 
complaint. 

 For any resident without computer access, the Council will post out 
any forms that are required to make a complaint. Additionally, an 
article could be placed in the BCP News if Members wished to 
pursue this as an option. 

 
Following the Officer responses, Members agreed that they would be keen 
to ensure that there was the option for face to face meetings during the 
complaint filtering process if it was felt that there was a need to do so and 
that the Monitoring Officer’s offer to amend Paragraph 2.1 of the appendix 
would be desirable to enable this provision. 

7



– 4 – 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
09 July 2019 

 
 
Additionally, Members also agreed that it would be beneficial to publicise 
the Standards Committee in the BCP news and provide details on how to 
make a complaint about a councillor. 
 
RESOLVED that:  
 

(a) the proposed arrangements for initial assessment of allegations 
of breach of the Code of Conduct for Councillors, as set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report, be adopted, subject to the amendment 
of Paragraph 2.1 to include the word “initially” after 
“…electronically by email”; 

(b) details of the standards committee and how complaints were 
handled be published in the next issue of the BCP News. 

 

Voting: Unanimous 
 

8. Councillor Development Framework  
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer highlighted that the Councillor Development 
Framework was an operational document that followed on from the 
Induction process that had already taken place and would act as a rolling 
programme of training for Councillors throughout their terms of office. 
 
A Member stated that he fully supported the development of such a 
framework to enable Members to be effective in their roles and highlighted 
that Officers needed to be mindful that a number of Members did work 
throughout the day and that mirrored sessions would need to take place in 
evenings to enable a more comprehensive attendance. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarification, 
details included: 
 

 The Standards Committee would be provided with details of 
attendance at training as part of their monitoring role. Additionally, 
Group Leaders would be provided with this information so that they 
were able to track training requirements within the group and assess 
the overall effectiveness of training on offer. 

 Officers would be identifying what was considered mandatory, 
although it was not possible for them to force Members to attend 
sessions, which would mean that it would be up to the Standards 
Committee and Group Leaders to oversee and manage attendance. 

 Officers would work towards the ensuring a maximum captive 
audience and wherever possible, training sessions would be video 
recorded in the same manner as the recent Planning Committee 
Training. Additionally, work would be undertaken to manage a library 
of training resources for Members. 

8



– 5 – 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
09 July 2019 

 

 Officers were using information gathered when Members had been 
handed their IT equipment to build a programme of training that 
would be most beneficial to Members, although due to the number of 
major projects that were currently taking place, there was a need to 
“bear with Officers”, whilst these were going on. For the meantime, 
Officers were looking to arrange some drop-in sessions for Members 
to assist with any burning issues with their equipment. 

 Attendance at training could be captured through the Modern Gov 
system that was being used and published if Members wished. 

 
RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the Councillor Development Framework, as set out in Appendix ‘C’ to 
this report, be noted; 

(b) periodic updates on the delivery of the training programme for 
councillors be reported to the committee for monitoring purposes and 
to ensure that the programme supports the ethical governance and 
code and conduct objectives. 

 

Voting: Unanimous 
 

9. Declaration of Interests - Flowchart  
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer explained that the Flowchart, as appended 
to the report, was to assist Members in determining what constituted as a 
disclosable interest and what should be reported. He added that this 
flowchart, if approved, would be added to each agenda to act as a quick 
and easy reference for Members. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarification, 
details included: 
 

 The purpose of the document was to assist Members in determining 
interests beyond pecuniary interests and was more so designed to 
aid in looking for any cause for bias or pre-determination, which it 
would not be possible for Democratic Services to identify. 

 If Members were concerned in relation to any confusion that this 
flowchart might cause if included as part of any agenda frontsheet at 
this point in time, the item could be deferred until the Meeting in 
October, which would allow Members the opportunity to discuss at 
the workshop session in September. 

 
RESOLVED that the item be deferred until the next Meeting of the 
Standards Committee to allow the flowchart to be redrafted by 
Officers in consultation with Members. 
 
Voting: Unanimous 

9



– 6 – 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
09 July 2019 

 
 

10. Work Programme and Schedule of Meetings  
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 
Officers responded to Members’ comments and requests for clarification, 
details included: 
 

 In the event that an additional meeting of the Standards Committee 
needed to be held to deal with a complaint, it was within the 
Chairman’s remit to do so and this would be considered as an 
extraordinary meeting, which would only deal with a specific item of 
business, separate to the prescribed work programme included 
within this report. 

 
RESOLVED that the schedule of meetings for 2019/20 be noted, and 
the work programme for the Standards Committee be adopted. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7.11 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

10



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Consideration of report in respect of complaint about a 
councillor 

Meeting date  14 January 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This Report provides the Standards Committee with the 
conclusions of the investigation following complaints made about 
Councillor Lisa Lewis. The investigator’s report is attached at 
Appendix A. The conclusion of the investigator is that Councillor 
Lewis did not breach the Code of Conduct, as she was not acting in 
the capacity of a councillor when sending the relevant tweet which 
resulted in the complaints. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that the Standards Committee consider 
the investigators report and accept the recommendations 
within his report. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

The investigation was conducted by an independent experienced 
investigator who undertook interviews with the complainants and 
the councillor concerned before reaching his conclusions. The 
conclusions are based upon the current legal framework which sets 
out the parameters within which councillors are subject to a Code of 
Conduct. 

  

11

Agenda Item 5



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Vikki Slade, Portfolio Holder for Resources 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe, Corporate Director, Resources 

Report Authors Tanya Coulter, Director, Law & Governance 

Wards  Not applicable  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. In August 2019 the Council received three separate complaints from members of the 
public concerning a re-tweet sent by Councillor Lisa Lewis. These complaints were 
logged and dealt with pursuant to the Council’s arrangements for managing 
complaints about elected councillors. 

2. This process involved the initial assessment of the complaints by the Chairman of 
the Standards Committee in consultation with the other members of the Committee 
and the three Independent Persons appointed by the Council. 

3. The initial assessment by the Chairman was that the complaints were of a nature to 
require an investigation.  

4. The Monitoring Officer appointed Mr Tim Darsley to undertake the investigation. Mr 
Darsley is an experienced investigator and independent of the Council.  

5. He commenced his work in October 2019 and the methodology and evidence he 
considered are set out within his report, attached at Appendix 1. 

6. It should be noted that the investigator’s report is marked as “confidential”. The 
Council is publishing this report with some redactions to the original confidential 
report and the appended report is a public document. 

Conclusions of the investigator 

7. Following consideration of the evidence and the legal framework applicable to such 
complaints, set out within his report, Mr Darsley concluded that Councillor Lewis was 
not acting in her capacity as a councillor when re-tweeting the relevant tweet.  

8. The Standards Committee is asked to consider the report of Mr Darsley at its 
meeting and the recommendation of the Monitoring Officer is to accept the findings 
of the investigator.  

9. The Committee may, notwithstanding the findings of the report, wish to consider any 
general advice and recommendations for councillors in regard to the use of social 
media. It should be noted that following the complaints received social media 
training has been provided by the Council for all councillors. 

Summary of financial implications 

10. There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation that the 
Committee formally accept the conclusions of the investigator in relation to these 
complaints. 

12



Summary of legal implications 

11. The detailed legal basis for the investigation and reasons for the findings of the 
investigator are set out in his report. 

12. The Monitoring Officer recommends that the Committee accept the findings of the 
investigator. Based on the evidence the investigator has obtained; the Monitoring 
Officer agrees with the investigator’s conclusions based upon the current legal 
framework and caselaw. 

Summary of human resources implications 

13. There are no human resources implications arising from the recommended course 
of action. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

14. There are no sustainability impacts arising from the recommendation. 

Summary of public health implications 

15. There are no public health impacts arising from the recommendation 

Summary of equality implications 

16. The report provides the Committee with details and recommendations arising from 
an independent investigation. The independent contractor has to comply with the 
Council’s Equality’s Policy when conducting the investigation. 

Summary of risk assessment 

17. There are risks that by accepting the recommendation that the public perception will 
be that councillors are able to publish information on social media in their private 
capacity which people could find offensive, and that this is unreasonable and 
inappropriate. It could therefore undermine the public’s confidence in the Council 
and its powers to deal with these matters. However, the Council has to act in 
accordance with the legal framework that exists, and the powers the Council has 
through its Standards Committee relate to conduct undertaken by councillors when 
acting in that capacity. Other regulatory regimes may come into play should they be 
appropriate where councillors are acting in their private capacity. The risk of not 
following the recommendation is that the Council will be acting contrary to a clear 
recommendation of an independent investigator who has assessed the evidence, 
and contrary to the legal advice received. 

Background papers 

None 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Report of independent investigator  

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



 
 

 

 
 

C O N F I D E N T I A L  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

R e p o r t   o f   I n v e s t i g a t i o n 
 

 
 
 
 
 

F i n a l 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report of an investigation by Tim Darsley,  
appointed by the Monitoring Officer  

of BCP Council  
into allegations concerning Councillor Lisa Lewis 

of BCP Council 
 
 
 

Case Reference:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6   D e c e m b e r   2 0 1 9 
 

 
 

15



Page 2 of 30 

 
 

 

C o n t e n t s  
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
 

2. Councillor Lewis’ official details 
 
 

3. The relevant legislation and protocols 
 
 

4. The evidence gathered 
 
 

5. Findings of fact 
 
 

6. Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to comply with 
the Code of Conduct 
 
 

7. Summary of findings 
 
 

8. Schedule of evidence taken into account 
 
 

Appendices: 
 
 
Documents 1 to 11 

 
 
 

 

16



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 3 of 30 

1. Introduction  
 
 
1.1 BCP Council is a unitary authority, formed in April 2019 from the former 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Councils.  Serving a population of 
some 400,000, the Council comprises 76 councillors.   
 

1.2 Councillor Lisa Lewis was elected to the new Council on 2 May 2019.  
She serves the West Southbourne ward.   
 

1.3 On 5 August 2019, Councillor Lewis re-tweeted from her Twitter account 
an article from the Dorset Eye, an on-line magazine.  The article criticised 
the activities of Rachel Riley and described her as, amongst other things, 
a fascist and an Israeli state terrorist sympathiser.  It also made 
reference to the killing of MP Jo Cox.  There was a subsequent exchange 
of tweets between Rachel Riley and Councillor Lewis.   
 

1.4 In the days following her tweet, the Council received three Code of 
Conduct complaints concerning Councillor Lewis’ actions.  The 
complainants were; ,  and .  
Their complaints are shown below:   

 
The complaints: 
 

 
 

 
Using her social media to bully/intimidate Rachel Riley who has a 
differing opinion to hers.  She shared an article on Rachel Riley on her 
Twitter account in which the article states that she (Rachel Riley) will be 
responsible for her own murder.  I have screen shots or you can simply 
go on Twitter to fully review the content.   
 
I am a constituent in Bournemouth West and whilst on Twitter I came 
across content that I believed was unacceptable and does not meet the 
code of conduct that Bournemouth Council has in place.   
 
The content is in regards to Councillor Lisa Lewis in which on Monday 
5th August on Twitter I came across Councillor Lisa Lewis’s Twitter 
page in which she promoted and liked an article from Dorset Eye, which 
I believe to be hate speech.  Councillor Lewis shared this content via 
retweeting and ‘liking' this on her personal Twitter account (@Elisalew).  
I came across this promoted content in which I saw a discussion in 
which Rachel Riley (Countdown TV presenter) shared on Twitter that 
Councillor Lewis had shared an article from Dorset Eye that contained 
the following quote from the article she shared.   
 

Redacted Redacted Redacted

Redacted

17



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 4 of 30 

 

 
“The more these ‘far right enablers’ spew the greater the number realise 
what a bunch of sickos they are.  At some point another Jo Cox moment 
will happen but this time it will not just be MP’s who are at great risk.  
Rachel Riley and her goons will only have themselves to blame if some 
loose cannon stoops to another loathsome low”.   
 
Link to Dorset Eye article for full context: 
https://dorseteye.com/pointless-poisonous-celebrity-attacks-the-canary/  
 
I believe that this is hate speech towards another citizen and that by 
Councillor Lewis sharing and liking this content on her personal Twitter 
page it is in breach of Bournemouth Council code of conduct.  
 
Councillor Lewis has since removed her retweet of the article but as of 
writing this email she still likes the article on her personal Twitter page.  
She did respond to Miss Riley in which she stated “I believe Corbyn and 
Formby when they say 0.06% of Labour members were found to have 
been or made anti/Semitic remarks.  More concerned with your 
comments re Canary!”  I believe this does not show a genuine concern 
in regards to apologising to Mrs Riley or wanting to apologise for the 
content she has shared and liked on her personal Twitter account.  
 
Alongside my main complaint I would also like to add the fact that the 
article describes Miss Riley as a “fascist and an Israeli state terrorist 
sympathiser”.  Although this may be just in the line of free speech, I do 
believe it is in breach of the council’s code of conduct.   
 
According to Mrs Riley’s Twitter posts, Mrs Riley did try to go through 
local Labour candidate for Bournemouth West to make a complaint.  His 
response was to block her on Twitter. Because of this I felt that it was 
my responsibility as a concerned constituent to file an official complaint 
through the council and to the committee.  
 
Below I have attached relevant screenshots of Councillor Lewis’s Twitter 
page and content that is evidence for the committee.   
 
I thank you for your time and I am more than happy to be at service to 
the committee to answer any questions or provide further assistance. 
 
All local councillors or sub committee should review this content and 
come to decision of what action should or should not be taken against 
her.   
 

 

18



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 5 of 30 

 

 
 

 
Lisa Lewis posted on Twitter a link to an allegedly anti-Semitic article.  
She retweeted a Dorset Eye article which stated or implied that Rachel 
Riley;  
1. is in the pay of Israel  
2. may become responsible for a murder - possibly her own.  
 
Such implied criticism is in clear breach of the IHRA definition of anti-
Semitism as adopted by BCP and by the Labour party who have now 
suspended Ms Lewis.  I am Jewish and was, until recently, a Labour 
voter.   

.  These points are of no direct relevance 
to my complaint but may help to explain the extent of my anger.  I 
consider Ms Lewis to have breached the following elements of the BCP 
code of conduct: 3.1; 3.2a;5;6 
 
I do not consider Ms Lewis to be a fit and proper person to be a 
councillor. At the very least, she should be suspended from the Council 
until the outcome of the Labour party investigation into her conduct is 
determined.  At best, I consider she should be dismissed from office 
 

 
 

 
 

 
On the 7th August it was reported in the local press that Lisa Lewis had 
retweeted an article from the Dorset Eye website, which makes the 
claim that the TV Countdown host Rachel Riley was in league with the 
Israeli government.  The tweet then goes on to make a somewhat 
sinister and vaguely threatening connection with the murder of Jo Cox.  
 
Rachel Riley has worked hard to combat antisemitism on social media 
and any objective assessment of her activities would confirm that this is 
her concern rather than promoting the interests of Israel.  Since this 
come to light, I am aware that Ms Lewis has been suspended from the 
Labour Party but I have not seen coverage of any response from Ms 
Lewis, either explaining or apologising for the seemingly offensive action 
in passing on these views.  In view of this, I would like to complain 
regarding the conduct of this councillor and feel it would be appropriate 
for Ms Lewis to be called before the standards committee to explain her 
actions.   
 

 

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

19



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 6 of 30 

 

 
In particular, I would like to know if she did not fully agree with the article 
why did she not qualify this on twitter?  I had thought that Ms Lewis’s 
actions must have taken place before she took up her role of councillor, 
but on checking the article does seem to have been published after 
since then. I am concerned to note that that Ms Lewis’s activity on social 
media could call her judgement into doubt as well as her ability to 
represent all the members of her ward.  
 
Please let me know the outcome of this complaint. Here is the link to the 
article: https://dorseteye.com/pointless-poisonous-celebrity-attacks-the-
canary/ 
 
I would ask that Ms Lewis is called before the standards committee to 
explain her actions in this regard and then make the appropriate 
apologies.   
 
 

 
 
1.5 Following the initial assessment of the complaints, the Chairman of the 

Standards Committee decided that all three should be referred for 
investigation.    
 

1.6 The Monitoring Officer appointed me to carry out an investigation into the 
complaints on 26 September 2019.   
 

 

20



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 7 of 30 

2. Councillor Lewis’ official details 
 
 
2.1 Councillor Lewis was elected to BCP Council on 2 May 2019.  She is a 

member of the Labour Group.   
 

2.2 She is one of two members representing the West Southbourne ward.   
 

2.3 Councillor Lewis received induction training for members shortly after her 
election.  A copy of the Code of Conduct is readily available to her.   
 

2.4 Councillor Lewis is the Vice-Chairman of the Children’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and is a member of the Health and 
Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  She is also a 
member of the Corporate Parenting Board and the Charter Trustees of 
Bournemouth.   
 

 
 

3. The relevant legislation and protocols 
 
 

The Localism Act 2011 
 
3.1 Section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 places a relevant authority under 

a statutory duty to ‘promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
members and co-opted members of the authority’.  
 

3.2 Under section 27(2) of the Act, a relevant authority ‘must, in particular, 
adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and 
co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity’. 
 

3.3 BCP Council is a relevant authority.  Its Code of Conduct is published in 
the Council’s Constitution, last updated on 9 September 2019.   
 

3.4 This investigation is carried out in relation to the Council’s Code of 
Conduct and under the provisions of the Council’s arrangements for 
considering complaints.   
 

21



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 8 of 30 

The Code of Conduct of BCP Council 
 

3.5 The following paragraphs of the Code of Conduct are relevant:   
 

 
This Code of Conduct sets out the conduct that is expected of 
councillors and co-opted members when acting in that capacity.  
 
General Obligations 
 
2.1 A Councillor must - 
 

(b) treat others with respect.   
 
 

2.2 A Councillor must not -  
 
(a) do anything which may cause the Council to breach any of its 

duties under the equalities legislation.   
 

(b) bully any person. 
 

(g) behave in a way which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing their role or the Council into disrepute.   

 
 

 

 
 

22



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 9 of 30 

4. The evidence gathered 
 
 

Documentary and on-line evidence 
 
4.1 I have taken account of the following information: 
 

• An article published in the Dorset Eye on 3 August 2019. 

• Tweets by Councillor Lewis and responses on her Twitter account 
from 5 August 2019.   

 
 
Oral evidence 
 

4.2 I have taken account of oral evidence through interviews with; 
 

• , complainant, 

• , complainant, and 

• Councillor Lisa Lewis, the subject member.   
 

4.3 The interviews were recorded.  The written records of the interviews were 
sent to the interviewees for the confirmation of accuracy.  The dates of 
sending the record and of the confirmation that the record is accurate are 
shown at the end of the record.   
 

4.4  did not wish to be interviewed in connection with my 
investigation.  He did supply me with a statement in response to a 
number of questions that I sent him.   
 

4.5 ’s statement and the records of interviews are shown at 
documents 5 to 8.   
 

Redacted
Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

23



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 10 of 30 

5. Findings of fact 
 
 
5.1 The three complaints are about the same conduct on the part of 

Councillor Lewis, namely her re-tweet of the Dorset Eye article on  
5 August 2019 and the subsequent exchange with Rachel Riley.   
 

5.2 The concerns of the complainants are similar.  They maintain that the 
Dorset Eye article was disrespectful in its criticism of Rachel Riley and 
intimidatory and threatening to her through its reference to ‘another Jo 
Cox moment’.  One called the article hate speech; another felt it was anti-
Semitic.   
 

5.3 The complainants believe that by re-tweeting the article, Councillor Lewis 
endorsed and promoted the sentiments in the article.  In doing so, they 
allege she breached a number of the requirements of the Council’s Code 
of Conduct.   
 

5.4 Members are required to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct when they 
are acting in their role as a councillor.  This is known as their official 
capacity.  The Code does not apply in a member’s private life.   
 

5.5 It is therefore necessary to establish whether Councillor Lewis was acting 
as a councillor when she made her tweets.  In order to do this, I have set 
out below the undisputed facts about the matter.  
 
 
Undisputed facts 
 

5.6 The Dorset Eye describes itself as ‘an online citizen media magazine in 
which local, national and international members of the public have their 
voices heard’.   
 

5.7 On 3 August 2019, it published an article headed Pointless poisonous 
celebrity attacks The Canary (document 1).  The Canary is another 
online magazine about which Rachel Riley had tweeted in the context of 
the Stop Funding Fake News campaign.   
 

5.8 The Dorset Eye article directed a number of comments at Rachel Riley, 
including: 
 
Rachel Riley (of Countdown) has been working, not so clandestinely, for 
(or with) the Israeli state propaganda machine.   
 
she is quite obviously (if only to me)* a fascist and an Israeli state 
terrorist sympathiser.   
 

24



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 11 of 30 

The more these ‘far right fascist enablers’ spew the greater the number 
realise what a bunch of sickos they are.   
 

5.9 The article also made reference to the murder of MP Jo Cox in 2016: 
 
At some point another Jo Cox moment will happen but this time it will not 
just be MP’s who are at great risk. Rachel Riley and her goons will only 
have themselves to blame if some loose cannon stoops to another 
loathsome low.   
 

5.10 On 5 August 2019, Councillor Lewis re-tweeted the Dorset Eye article 
from her Twitter account (document 2).  She did not add any comments 
of her own to the re-tweet.   
 

5.11  states that Councillor Lewis also ‘liked’ the Dorset Eye 
article.  Councillor Lewis couldn’t remember whether she ‘liked’ it but felt 
that she probably had.   
 

5.12 Also on 5 August, Rachel Riley tweeted about Councillor Lewis’ re-tweet, 
commenting on the claim that she was working for Israel and the 
reference to Jo Cox (document 3).  She also tweeted; Do you think I 
deserve to be murdered?    
 

5.13 Councillor Lewis responded by tweeting; I believe Corbyn and Formby 
when they say 0.06% of Labour members were found to have been or 
made anti/semitic remarks.  More concerned with your comments re 
Canary! (document 4).   
 

5.14 Rachel Riley in turn replied; State of this racist @Elisalew.  Responds to: 
Do you think I deserve to be murdered?  With: I’m more concerned 
you’re trying to stop a racist fake news site from making money from it.  
WOW!!!  (document 4).   
 

5.15 Councillor Lewis made no further tweets on the subject.  Rachel Riley 
exchanged tweets about Councillor Lewis’ actions with Labour Party 
prospective parliamentary candidate David Stokes.   
 

5.16 ,  and  submitted Code of Conduct 
complaints against Councillor Lewis shortly after 5 August.   
 

 
Official capacity 
 

5.17 A member is acting in their official capacity when they are conducting the 
business of their authority.  The Code of Conduct does not apply in a 
member’s private life.  
 

Redacted

Redacted Redacted Redacted

25



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 12 of 30 

5.18 ’s view was that once someone became a public figure, their 
Twitter account was no longer private.  She did not therefore believe that 
Councillor Lewis was acting in a private capacity.   
 

5.19  told me that it was clear that Councillor Lewis was a 
councillor so she had that responsibility.  He felt she should have known 
better than to give publicity to a social media message which breached 
the IHRA definition of anti-Semitism which had recently been accepted 
by BCP Council.   
 

5.20 He accepted that Lisa Lewis was entitled to a private point of view on 
Twitter.  But the Dorset Eye was a political magazine and, in the 
circumstances, he felt that Councillor Lewis was acting as a councillor.   
 

5.21 Councillor Lewis told me that she wasn’t speaking as a councillor when 
she re-tweeted the Dorset Eye article.  She didn’t use her Twitter account 
to deal with Council business.  She didn’t have any social media account 
that she used for Council business.  She was acting in a private capacity 
when she used her Twitter account.   
 

5.22 Councillor Lewis’ Twitter account is under the name of Lisa Lewis.  At the 
time, she included ‘Labour Councillor’ as one of her activities, amongst a 
number of others.   
 

5.23 I have examined Councillor Lewis’ postings on her Twitter account since 
before August 2019.  She is an active Twitter user, making many tweets 
and re-tweets, principally on national political, social and environmental 
issues.  I found no postings about her activities at BCP Council or about 
the business of the Council generally.   
 
 

Redacted

Redacted

26



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 13 of 30 

6. Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct 

 
 
6.1 The key test of whether Councillor Lewis was acting in her official 

capacity is whether she was conducting the business of her authority.   
 

6.2 Her Twitter account is not identified as that of Councillor Lisa Lewis and 
she does not use it to discuss, or deal with Council business.  A 
constituent interested in Councillor Lewis’ Council activities would not 
find such information on Twitter.   
 

6.3 At the same time, I do not believe that a member of the public viewing 
Councillor Lewis’ Twitter account would interpret her activities there as 
part of her Council duties.   
 

6.4 The particular issue of the future of the Canary and the views of the 
Dorset Eye is clearly not the business of BCP Council.   
 

6.5 In these circumstances, I find that; 
 

• When she made her tweets concerning the Dorset Eye article, 
Councillor Lewis was not acting in her official capacity.   
 

 
 
 
 

7. Summary of Findings 
 
 
7.1 In summary, I have found that; 

 

• Councillor Lewis was not acting in her official capacity when 
she made her tweets concerning the article in the Dorset Eye.  
The Code of Conduct was therefore not applicable to those 
actions.   
 

 
7.2 The reasoning for my findings is set out in section 6 above.   

 
7.3 Councillor Lewis, ,  and  

were sent draft copies of this report on 25 November 2019.   
 

7.4 Councillor Lewis responded to say she accepted that it was a true 
representation of the facts regarding our interview.  She also commented 
on her knowledge of Rachel Riley and the need to check material 
thoroughly before re-tweeting it (document 9).   
 

Redacted Redacted Redacted

27



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 14 of 30 

7.5  accepted that Councillor Lewis did not make her 
comments in her role as a councillor.  He was, however, concerned that 
public servants could share such content privately.  He reiterated his 
view of Councillor Lewis’ re-tweet despite the context (document 10).   
 

7.6  responded to say that she profoundly disagreed with the 
conclusion of the Report (document 11).   
 

7.7  did not respond to the Draft Report.   
 

7.8 This is my final report.  It will be forwarded to the Monitoring Officer who 
will complete the remaining stages of the Council’s complaints 
procedure.   
 
 

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

28



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 15 of 30 

8. Schedule of evidence appended 
 
 
 

Document 
no. 

Description 

1 Text of article in the Dorset Eye, 3 August 2019   
 

2 Re-tweet of Dorset Eye article by Councillor Lewis on  
5 August 2019 
 

3 Tweet from Rachel Riley responding to Councillor Lewis’  
 re-tweet of the Dorset Eye article, 5 August 2019 
 

4 Exchange of tweets between Councillor Lewis and Rachel Riley, 
5 August or thereabouts 
 

5 Statement of  
 

6 Record of interview with  
 

7 Record of interview with  
 

8 Record of interview with Councillor Lisa Lewis 
 

9 Response of Councillor Lisa Lewis to the Draft Report  
of Investigation 
 

10 Response of  to the Draft Report  
of Investigation 
 

11 Response of  to the Draft Report  
of Investigation 
 

 
 

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

29



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 16 of 30 

Document 1:  Text of article in the Dorset Eye, 3 August 2019   

 
 
 

Pointless poisonous celebrity 
attacks The Canary 
 

For a while now Rachel Riley (of Countdown) has been working, not so 

clandestinely, for (or with) the Israeli state propaganda machine (either 

associated or non associated – it amounts to the same thing)*. The 

attempt has been to lie and deceive people in to believing that Jeremy 

Corbyn, and those media who seek to stand up to the hate and lies of 

right wing zionists and terror supporters against Palestinian women, men 

and children, are anti semitic. Whether she is paid for her hate and 

propaganda is not for me to say but she is quite obviously (if only to 

me)* a fascist and an Israeli state terrorist sympathiser. 

* Updated to avoid confusion. We are all aware of those who have to 

have it spelt out. 

She lies with impunity. For example: 

 
 

30



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 17 of 30 

 

 
 

 

However her campaign of lies and hate has backfired. By publishing her 

tweet the Canary has attracted many more subscribers; is changing its 

model and has attracted many who agree with the following: 

https://twitter.com/KtKevlt/status/1157584216193978369?s=20 

The more these ‘far right fascist enablers’ spew the greater the number 

realise what a bunch of sickos they are. At some point another Jo Cox 

moment will happen but this time it will not just be MP’s who are at 

great risk. Rachel Riley and her goons will only have themselves to 

blame if some loose cannon stoops to another loathsome low. 

In a democracy people should feel comfortable expressing themselves. 

Unfortunately Rachel Riley is like the spoilt child who was invited to the 

party and then shat on the carpet. No more invites for her unless you 

enjoy smelly stains. 

Douglas James 

 

31



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 18 of 30 

Document 2:  Re-tweet of Dorset Eye article by Councillor Lewis on  
5 August 2019  

 
 

 
 

32



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 19 of 30 

Document 3:  Tweet from Rachel Riley responding to Councillor Lewis’  
 re-tweet of the Dorset eye article, 5 August 2019   

 
 

 
 

33



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 20 of 30 

Document 4:  Exchange of tweets between Councillor Lewis and Rachel 
Riley, 5 August or thereabouts 

 
 

 
 

34



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 21 of 30 

Document 5:  Statement of  

 
 

I was scrolling on Twitter and saw that Rachel Riley (Countdown TV star) 
has commented that a Labour Councillor (Lisa Lewis) had shared 
(retweeted) and liked an article from Dorset Eye titled ‘Pointless 
poisonous celebrity attacks the canary’.  I clicked on Councillor Lewis’s 
Twitter page to try and understand more, which I then discovered that 
she was one of my local councillors at Bournemouth Borough Council.   
I then felt I had a role as a local resident to find out the full context and 
whether or not this was something to make a formal complaint about 
directly to the council.   

 
I clicked on Councillor Lewis’s Twitter page and then clicked on the 
shared article from Dorset Eye.  My first issue with the shared article is 
that it calls Rachel Riley a fascist and Israeli state sympathiser (first 
paragraph) because Miss Riley has been outspoken of anti-semitic 
persons and organisations.  My interpretation of this quote is that it is 
name calling Miss Riley because of her calling out of persons and 
organisations that she believes are anti-semitic.  However my main 
complaint is that the article in which Councillor Lewis shared on her 
Twitter page was the third paragraph in the article.  “The more ‘far right 
fascist enablers’ spew the greater the number realise what a bunch of 
sickos they are.  At some point another Jo Cox moment will happen but 
this time it will not just be MP’s who are at great risk.  Rachel Riley and 
her goons will only have themselves to blame if some loose cannon 
stoops to another loathsome low”.  My interpretation of this quote is that it 
justifies the killing of someone like Miss Riley because of her critique of a 
political view that she has.  I believe this breaks three principles of the 
Bournemouth Council code of conduct, first is Honesty and integrity and 
second is Respect for others of which these two ultimately means you 
break the Leadership principle. 

 
Because of these two specific pieces in the article I believe its intentions 
are to attack Miss Riley because of her objections to specific persons 
and organisations that are attacking their own political beliefs.  I also 
believe that the two specific pieces in the article show prejudice toward 
Miss Riley for her Pro-Jewish views by using hate speech.  In my opinion 
because of Councillor Lewis’s actions of sharing (retweeted) and liking 
this article on her Twitter page that she is in agreement with the context 
and content of the article.  

 
I have attached screenshots from my phone of which should help show 
you some evidence backing my claims and answer some of your 
questions. 

 
 

Redacted

35



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 22 of 30 

Document 6:  Record of telephone interview with ,  
9 October 2019 

 
 
1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised 

you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.   
 

2. You told me you were resident in the BCP area.  You had no direct 
connection or involvement with the Council although your husband was a 
friend of Councillor Williams and you met socially with him and his wife.  
You confirmed that you had submitted your complaint on 7 August.   
 

3. You said you followed a number of people on Twitter, including Rachel 
Riley.  You had seen references to an article in Dorset Eye, which you 
had followed up.  You also followed the Dorset Echo on Twitter and it 
was from there that you had picked up that Councillor Lewis had re-
tweeted the Dorset Eye article.   
 

4. You said that, by the time you got to Councillor Lewis’ Twitter account, 
she had deleted the tweet.  You hadn’t seen the actual tweet yourself but 
you had seen the Dorset Eye article.   
 

5. In your view, someone didn’t re-tweet an item without approving it.  By 
re-tweeting the article, Councillor Lewis had repeated its content and had 
endorsed it.   
 

6. You added that Dorset Eye was notorious for the comments that it made 
and you would be surprised if Councillor Lewis wasn’t aware of that.   
 

7. The elements of concern in the article included the claim that Rachael 
Riley was in the pay of the Israel State propaganda machine and was a 
fascist.   
 

8. You felt that the reference to another Jo Cox moment was appalling.  
You believed that; this time it will not just be MPs who are at great risk, 
was a threat.   
 

9. You said that; Rachel Riley and her goons will only have themselves to 
blame if some loose cannon stoops to another loathsome low, had 
implications on two levels.  Firstly, it would be Rachel Riley’s fault if 
someone else was murdered.  And secondly, it might be that Rachel 
Riley herself was at great risk.  The assertion was clearly threatening and 
intimidating and was intended to be.   
 

Redacted

36



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 23 of 30 

10. I asked about your view that equality laws had been breached.  You said 
this referred to way in which particular ethnic or religious groups were 
treated.  You believed that Bournemouth Council had adopted the IHRA 
definition of anti-Semitism.  This made it clear that it was possible to 
criticise the actions of the Israeli government without turning that into 
criticism of the State of Israel or criticism of Jewish people around the 
world.   
 

11. Regarding Councillor Lewis’ role in making the tweet, you pointed out 
that it was made from the account that she used as a councillor.  She 
didn’t have a separate account for Council business, as far as you were 
aware.   
 

12. You believed that once someone became a public figure, their twitter 
accounts were no longer private.  You felt it was irrelevant that her 
account wasn’t headed as Councillor Lewis.   
 

13. You did not therefore believe that Councillor Lewis was acting in her 
private capacity.  Once you were in a public position, any Twitter account 
was in the public domain.   
 

14. You confirmed that you believed Councillor Lewis had breached the 
provisions of the Code of Conduct concerning; treating others with 
respect, causing the Council to breach equality laws, bringing the Council 
into disrepute and failing to have regard to the Council’s Code of 
Publicity.   
 

15. In summary, you felt that for a councillor to re-tweet something so 
obviously and intentionally offensive was completely unacceptable.  It 
made her, in your view, unfit to continue in office.   
 

 
 
 

Sent to witness for confirmation 12 October 2019 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 12 October 2019 

 
 
 

37



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 24 of 30 

Document 7:  Record of telephone interview with ,  
11 October 2019 

 
 
1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised 

you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.   
 

2. You told me you were a resident of Bournemouth and had no direct 
connection or involvement with the Council.   
 

3. You confirmed that you had become aware of Councillor Lewis’ tweet 
from an article in the Bournemouth Echo.  You had looked up the tweet 
and had also gone on to view the Dorset Eye article.   
 

4. You confirmed that Councillor Lewis had re-tweeted the Dorset Eye 
article without adding any comments of her own.   
 

5. You saw the re-tweeting of the article as condoning it.  By sharing the 
article, she had effectively repeated the words and the sentiments of it.  
You understood it was this action that had resulted in Councillor Lewis’ 
suspension from the Labour Party.   
 

6. You said there were two parts of the tweet that really bothered you.   
 

7. The article said that Rachel Riley was in league with the Israeli 
government.  You had looked through Rachel Riley’s tweets.  She did a 
lot to combat anti-Semitism but you hadn’t found anything supporting the 
Israeli government.  To say that a Jewish person was only there as an 
agent of the Israeli state was, you felt, anti-Semitic.   
 

8. Further, the article went on to say that it would be a shame if something 
happened to Rachel Riley like had happened to Jo Cox.  That wasn’t 
something that a councillor should be saying and could be considered as 
incitement.   
 

9. You thought that, at best, it had been incredibly careless for a serving 
councillor to pass that on.  At worst, it associated her with that wing of the 
Labour Party that thought that anyone who stood up against what they 
believed deserved what they got.   
 

10. You thought that the reference to what happened to Jo Cox was 
intimidating and threatening.   
 

11. I asked you about the role of Councillor Lewis when she made the re-
tweet.  You said it was clear she is a councillor so she had that 
responsibility.  She should have known better than to give publicity to a 
social media message which breached the IHRA definition of anti-
Semitism which had recently been accepted by BCP Council.   
 

Redacted

38



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 25 of 30 

12. You accepted that Lisa Lewis was entitled to a private point of view on 
Twitter.  But there a diversity of people living in her constituency and you 
wondered how they felt if their councillor was coming out with those 
opinions.  They would wonder if they were going to get a fair hearing 
from her.   
 

13. You felt that Dorset Eye was a mouthpiece of a particular political point of 
view.  If you were a councillor and you liked their tweet you couldn’t say, 
oh forget I’m a councillor on that one.  You felt that, in the circumstances, 
she was acting as a councillor.   
 

14. You confirmed that you thought Councillor Lewis had breached the Code 
of Conduct by passing on, without any qualification, the Dorset Eye 
article.  You couldn’t see how any sensible person could think she didn’t 
agree with it.   
 

15. Her action didn’t show respect for others and was bullying.   
 

16. You felt the criticisms of Rachel Riley were just not objective.  If you went 
through her tweets, they were about anti-Semitism - there was nothing 
about Israel.  The article was not correct and had shades of anti-
Semitism.   
 

17. You said you were not trying to make Councillor Lewis’ life difficult.  You 
would like her to make a public response in the press, to say what she 
actually felt about the matter and whether she would be continuing to 
follow Dorset Eye.  She needed to be open to all the people in the 
Bournemouth community, including Jewish people.   
 

 
 
 

Sent to witness for confirmation 12 October 2019 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 22 October 2019 

 
 
 

39



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 26 of 30 

Document 8:  Record of interview with Councillor Lisa Lewis,  
15 October 2019 

 
 
1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised 

you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.   
 

2. You told me you had been elected to the new BCP Council on 5 May 
2019.  As a new councillor you had received induction training but you 
weren’t sure whether this had included the Code of Conduct.   
 

3. You confirmed you had seen the Dorset Eye item on Twitter on 6 August.  
You said there was a great deal to learn as a new councillor and you had 
been busy in your personal life.  You were having a very busy morning 
when you re-tweeted the article.  You hadn’t read it properly.  You had 
been concerned about the Canary, which you subscribed to.   
 

4. You had been upset that someone would use their celebrity status to 
denigrate the Canary.  You felt that you had to stand up for it.   
 

5. You accepted you were wrong not to have read the whole article 
properly.  You had left out the last page and the link.  When Rachel Riley 
had responded, you didn’t really know what she was talking about.   
 

6. You couldn’t remember whether you had liked the Dorset Eye tweet.  
You felt you probably had.  You confirmed you hadn’t added any 
comments in the re-tweet.   
 

7. The reason for you re-tweeting the article was to stand up for the Canary.  
You agreed that you had given the Dorset Eye article further exposure.   
 

8. Had you read the article properly, you wouldn’t have re-tweeted it 
because you didn’t like the sort of language it used.  When you had read 
it through, you were shocked and horrified that you had done so.  You 
had been in too much of a rush and had been really careless.   
 

9. You said that re-tweeting something didn’t necessarily mean that you 
endorsed it.  You didn’t feel that you had totally endorsed the article.  You 
hadn’t been fully aware of all its content.   
 

10. You confirmed that you had responded once to Rachel Riley but after 
you had properly read the article you stopped looking at the subject.   
 

11. I put to you the specific points of concern that the complainants had with 
the Dorset Eye article that you had re-tweeted.   
 

40



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 27 of 30 

12. Rachel Riley is working for Israeli State propaganda.  You said you didn’t 
know about that so you wouldn’t like to comment.   
 

13. She is quite obviously a fascist.  You said you wouldn’t like to say that 
about anybody.   
 

14. She is an Israeli state terrorist sympathiser.  You said that also was not a 
nice thing to say about anybody.   
 

15. Although these items were in the top half of the article, you said they 
hadn’t really registered.   
 

16. These far right fascist enablers … they are a bunch of sickos.  You said 
you were uncomfortable with that and you wouldn’t associate yourself 
with that description.   
 

17. Another Jo Cox moment will happen …not just MPs who are at great risk.  
Rachel Riley and her goons … only have themselves to blame … if some 
loose cannon stoops to another loathsome low.   
 

18. You said the insinuation there was thoroughly awful.  That was why you 
felt so bad for weeks afterwards.  You hadn’t taken that in at the time.  
You felt ashamed that you would re-tweet something like that.   
 

19. You accepted that the reference could be threatening and intimidating to 
Rachel Riley.  It was a really bad thing to direct to anybody.   
 

20. I asked you about you role in making the re-tweet.   
 

21. You said you weren’t speaking as a councillor when you re-tweeted the 
article.  Your Twitter account was labelled Lisa Lewis.  You didn’t use the 
account to deal with Council business.  You didn’t have any other social 
media account that you used for Council business.  You said you were 
acting in a private capacity when you used your Twitter account.   
 

22. I put to you the requirements of the Code of Conduct that the 
complainants allege you had breached.   
 

23. You accepted that, reading the whole article, it didn’t seem that you 
treated Rachel Riley with respect.   
 

24. You accepted that if Rachel Riley was being tweeted the article many 
times, it could be intimidating.   
 

25. Regarding equality laws, you didn’t feel that the article was anti-Semitic.  
You had Jewish relations.  You had good friends who were Jewish and 
they didn’t see that it was anti-Semitic.  If you had thought it was anti-
Semitic, you wouldn’t have sent it.   
 

41



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 28 of 30 

26. You said that if the article was found to be anti-Semitic, you would be 
very willing to go on further training on the subject.   
 

27. You had read out an apology for your action to the last BCP Council 
meeting.  It had been careless and you wanted people to know that you 
didn’t endorse what you sent.  You regretted causing people upset.  You 
had learned a tough lesson and you would be much more careful in 
future.   
 

28. You had been advised not to speak to the local press about the matter so 
you hadn’t done so.   
 

 
 

Sent to witness for confirmation 17 October 2019 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record  

 
 

42



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 29 of 30 

Document 9:  Response of Councillor Lisa Lewis to the Draft Report  
of Investigation 

 
 
 
 
Dear Tim Darsley, 
 
Thank you for your email and the attachment draft report. I apologise for omitting to 
reply previously but I confess I was too unhappy about the whole episode.  
 
I have read through your draft report and accept that it is a true representation of the 
facts, regarding our interview. 
 
I would just like it to be mentioned that I did not at the time of retweeting know that 
Rachel Riley is Jewish.  
 
Also, because the article was in the Dorset Eye I assumed wrongly that it would be 
acceptable but I now know that I should not make assumptions and should check 
everything through carefully and thoroughly before retweeting.  
 
Kind regards 
 
Lisa  
 
 

43



Final  -  Confidential 

Page 30 of 30 

Document 10:  Response of  to the Draft Report  
of Investigation 

 
 
 
I appreciate your hard work on this investigation. I think you’re right on the context that 

Mrs Lewis did not make these comments in her official role as councillor, however I’m 

worried that this may set a bad precedent that public servants can make or share such 

content in a private setting without it being brought to light. Although I don’t want the 

conclusion changed I think there may be a point of making a note that the content was 

racist despite the context.  

 
Thanks Tim. 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document 11:  Response of  to the Draft Report  

of Investigation 

 
 
 
Many thanks for this. You will not be surprised when I say I profoundly disagree with 

your conclusion.   

 

Regards 

 

  

 

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

Redacted

44



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Code of Conduct Complaints - Review 

Meeting date  14 January 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report provides Members with an update on complaints 
regarding alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct against 
councillors received since 1 April 2019. 

The Committee is responsible for maintaining high standards of 
conduct by Members of BCP Council and the Town and Parish 
Councils, monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct, and 
considering the outcome of commissioned independent 
investigations. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 the outcome of concluded complaints and the progress of 
those still outstanding be noted. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

This is an opportunity for Members of the Committee to be 
appraised of details of completed complaints and any outstanding 
complaints of alleged breaches against the Code of Conduct. This 
is in accordance with the functions of the Committee and its duty to 
discharge functions in relation to the promotion and maintenance of 
high standards of conduct within the Council and amongst Town 
and Parish Councils within the area. 

  

45

Agenda Item 6



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Vikki Slade (Leader of the Council) 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe (Strategic Director Resources) 

Report Authors Richard Jones (Head of Democratic Services) 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide a summary and update of completed and 
ongoing complaints received regarding alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct 
under the Localism Act 2011 since 1 April 2019 against BCP Councillors. 

2. This report will be presented to all future meetings of the committee and will include 
analysis of the nature of the complaints to identify repeating issues and help inform 
future training and development decisions. 

Analysis  

3. Details of allegations/complaints in relation to the Code of Conduct are outlined in 
the table set out in paragraph 6 to this report. 

4. The adopted arrangements for dealing with allegations of breach of the code of 
conduct for councillors provides for an initial filtering process by the Chairman of the 
Standards Committee in consultation with councillors of the Standards Committee 
and Monitoring Officer (or her Deputy) to decide whether:- 

(a) There is no breach of the Code and no further action should be taken; or 

(b) There is a potential breach of the Code and informal resolution is appropriate, to 
include for example mediation, training, apology, advice; or 

(c) There is a potential breach of the Code and the Monitoring Officer should 
undertake or commission an investigation into the complaint with a view to a 
report then being considered by the Standards Committee. 

5. The analysis provides details of the nature of the complaint, the initial filtering 
decision of the Chairman (following consultation), any informal resolutions agreed 
(where applicable), and the status of the complaint. Complaints against councillors 
of the predecessor councils who did not stand for re-election and therefore not 
investigated have not been included. 

6. Certain specific detailed information regarding pending complaints has not been 
provided as this may be prejudicial to the conduct of the ongoing complaints 
process. Personal details have also not been included to protect both the identity of 
councillors and the complainant, unless specific direction to the contrary has been 
expressed. 

Reference Nature of complaint Decision of Chairman Status 

TPC-001 Resident complaint against 
Christchurch Town Councillor 
alleging a breach of council 
protocols relating to the conduct 
of councillors and behaving in a 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. 
Social media posts were 
made on a personal 
account, accessible only to 

Closed 

46



Reference Nature of complaint Decision of Chairman Status 

manner which brings disrepute on 
the council. The complaint was in 
relation to the content of social 
media posts. 

personal friends. Actions 
were not considered to be 
in their capacity as a 
councillor. 

BCP-002 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of 
council protocols, failure to have 
regard to advice, disclosure of 
confidential information, 
compromised the impartiality of 
officers, brought disrepute on the 
council, attempted to use their 
position improperly, and bullied, 
harassed or intimidated 
complainant.  The nature of the 
complaint was based upon 
decisions of the council and 
referred to press articles and 
social media posts (although no 
copies of the social media posts 
were provided). 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Complainant 
failed to provide any 
tangible evidence and 
therefore dismissed for the 
following reasons: 
1. Based essentially on 
hearsay; 
2. Insufficient information 
submitted to demonstrate 
breach; 
3. Complaint essentially 
against the actions of the 
council as a whole  

Closed 

BCP-003 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of 
council protocols, brought 
disrepute on the council, 
attempted to use their position 
improperly, and behaved in a 
manner which was considered to 
be bullying, harassing intimidating 
others. The complaint was in 
relation to the content of social 
media posts and alleged trolling 
by others associated with the 
councillor in question. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Acknowledged 
that opinions and views of 
the complainant and 
councillor in question differ. 
No verifiable evidence 
provided to demonstrate 
breach of the Code. 
No evidence providing of 
trolling or that councillor 
was involved. 

Closed 

BCP-004 
BCP-008 

Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillors alleging a breach of 
council protocols, compromised 
the impartiality of officers, brought 
disrepute on the council, and 
attempted to use their position 
improperly. 

Complaint being managed 
by the Chief Executive and 
independent review. 

Pending 

BCP-005 Employee complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of 
council protocols, and behaviour 
that compromised the impartiality 
of officers. Specific reference was 
made to the Protocol for 
Councillor / Officer Relations 
which forms part of the Code of 
Conduct. The complaint related to 
a face-to-face meeting with the 
councillor concerned. 

Complaint considered at 
filtering stage to be a 
potential breach of the 
Code and resolved by way 
of informal resolution by 
way of apology. Reminder 
of Protocol also provided for 
future reference. 

Closed 

47



Reference Nature of complaint Decision of Chairman Status 

BCP-006 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of the 
code of conduct by using or 
attempting to use the position as 
a councillor to confer advantage, 
the use of council resources 
improperly for political purposes, 
and failing to have regard to the 
Councils codes. The complaint 
followed a face-to-face meeting 
with the councillor concerned. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Insufficient 
evidence available to 
demonstrate breach. 

Closed 

BCP-007 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of the 
code of conduct by bringing the 
council into disrepute and 
behaviour considered to be 
bullying, harassing or intimidatory. 
Reference was made to social 
media posts. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Partially 
behaviour complained 
about was in a personal 
capacity and not as a 
councillor. In addition, 
insufficient evidence was 
provided. 

Closed 

BCP-009 
BCP-010 
BCP-014 

Three separate complaints 
against BCP Councillor alleging 
breach of the code of conduct by 
failing to treat others with respect, 
intimidating others, causing the 
council to breach equality laws, 
bringing the office of councillor or 
the council into disrepute while 
acting in an official capacity, and 
failing to have regard to the 
council’s code of publicity. The 
complaint referenced social media 
posts made by the councillor 
concerned which were considered 
to be anti-Semitic in nature. 

Complaint reviewed and 
considered that there was a 
potential breach and of a 
nature serious enough to 
warrant an independent 
investigation. A separate 
report is included on this 
agenda for the committee to 
consider. 

Pending 

BCP-011 Employee complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging a breach of 
council protocols and allowing 
their conduct to bring disrepute on 
the council. Specific reference 
was made to the Protocol for 
Councillor / Officer Relations 
which forms part of the Code of 
Conduct. The complaint related to 
comments made at a committee 
meeting. 

Potential breach of the 
Code and resolved by way 
of informal resolution in line 
with remedy sought which 
was to remind the councillor 
concerned of the Protocol 
and a commitment to abide 
to it. 

Closed 

48



Reference Nature of complaint Decision of Chairman Status 

BCP-012 Councillor complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging breach by 
bringing the office/council into 
disrepute, using the position as 
councillor improperly, failing to 
register and declare personal 
interest, and failing to withdraw 
from a meeting. The complaint 
related to conduct at a specific 
committee meeting. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Disclosure and 
registration of interests 
were considered to be in 
order, audio recording of 
meeting in question showed 
no evidence of bias or 
impropriety.  

Closed 

BCP-013 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging breach of the 
code of conduct by failing to treat 
others with respect. The 
complainant referred to an article 
in the Bournemouth Echo which 
itself referenced social media 
posts. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Press article 
considered to misrepresent 
capacity of the social media 
post and attribute it to a 
councillor. Actions were not 
considered to be in their 
capacity as a councillor. 

Closed 

BCP-015 Resident complaint against two 
councillors alleging breach of the 
code of conduct by failing to treat 
others with respect. The 
complainant referred to a 
conversation with one councillor 
and a lack of contact from the 
other. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. Complainant 
failed to provide any 
tangible evidence and 
therefore dismissed for the 
following reasons: 
1. Based essentially on 
hearsay; 
2. Insufficient information 
submitted to demonstrate 
breach; 
3. Not in the public interest 
or proportionate to pursue 
the matter further. 

Closed 

BCP-016 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging breach of the 
code of conduct by failing to treat 
others with respect, behaviour 
contrary to equality laws, bringing 
the office of councillor or the 
council into disrepute. The 
complaint referenced a national 
media article referencing social 
media posts made by the 
councillor concerned which were 
considered to be Islamophobic 
and racist in nature. 

Complaint reviewed and 
considered that there was a 
potential breach and of a 
nature serious enough to 
warrant an independent 
investigation. 

Independent review 
currently being 
commissioned and will be 
reported to a future meeting 
of the Standards 
Committee. 

Pending 

BCP-017 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging breach of code 
of conduct by inappropriate 
behaviour at an official event, by 
bringing the office/council into 
disrepute, using the position as 
councillor improperly, and 

The complaint has not yet 
been considered. 

Pending 

49



Reference Nature of complaint Decision of Chairman Status 

intimidatory behaviour. 

BCP-018 Resident complaint against BCP 
Councillor alleging breach of the 
code of conduct by intimidating or 
attempting to intimidate any 
person who is, or is likely to be a 
complainant 

The complaint has not yet 
been considered. 

Pending 

BCP-020 As referenced at the Standards 
Committee held on 9 July 2019, a 
review of the complaint submitted 
by Mr Conor O’Luby together with 
the complaints process was 
undertaken by an independent 
person of the committee following 
a request to do so by the Local 
Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. 

This complaint related to the 
behaviour of a councillor of a 
predecessor council and alleged a 
breach of the code of conduct of 
that council for failing to treat 
others with respect, bullying 
behaviour, intimidating or 
attempting to intimidate, and 
bringing the office of councillor 
and the council into disrepute 
while acting in an official capacity. 

The complaint related to the 
conduct at a meeting of the 
predecessor council held on 5 
December 2017 and the response 
to a question. 

Complaint reviewed and 
dismissed. 

Although comments made 
by the councillor were not 
wholly appropriate, the 
context of the responses 
were not considered to be a 
breach of the code of 
conduct. 

A separate letter of apology 
was provided for time taken 
to resolve the complaint, 
and the procedural flaws 
with the handling and 
consideration of the 
complaint in 2017. 

Closed 

 

Training and Development 

7. A separate report will be presented to the next meeting with details of the training 
programme provided to councillors since 1 April 2019, however, it should be noted 
that training has been delivered as a direct result of the complaints received. 

8. The Committee will be aware that a number of complaints have featured the content 
of social media postings, and whilst many have been dismissed, the councillors 
involved in considering these complaints requested that social media training be 
arranged and offered to all councillors as a matter of priority. Two sessions were 
held in September in response and was favourably received by those attending. 

Summary of financial implications 

9. There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

50



Summary of legal implications 

10. The Council has a legal duty to respond to complaints made against councillors of 
allegations of a breach of the Code of Conduct. The Council has adopted 
procedures for handling complaints. 

Summary of human resources implications 

11. There are no direct manpower implications arising from this report, however, the 
Committee will be aware that the handling and processing of complaints is resource 
intensive. A high volume of complaints could require the need for additional 
resources. It is therefore critical that the committee continuously seeks to promote 
and maintain high standards of conduct by all councillors to help limit the number of 
complaints. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

12. There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 

Summary of public health implications 

13. There are no public health and wellbeing implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications 

14. There are no equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

15. There are no direct risks associated with this report. 

Background papers 

Records of complaints received by the Council since 1 April 2019 – These records 

contain exempt information (Categories 1 (Information relating to any individual) and 

2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual))  

Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report.  

51



This page is intentionally left blank

52



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Declarations of Interest - Guidance Flowchart 

Meeting date  14 January 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The Standards Committee is responsible for ethical governance 
and promoting high standards of conduct of councillors. This report 
was deferred from the previous meeting of the committee to allow 
the flowchart to be redrafted in consultation with the committee 
members. 

This report seeks the approval of the revised guidance flowchart, 
which aims to assist councillors determine whether they have a 
declarable interest and whether participation at a meeting would be 
appropriate. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 the declaration of interest guidance flowchart, as set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report, be approved and included on all 
meeting agenda front sheets to serve as a reminder and 
guidance to councillors of the need to declare, and, where 
appropriate, refrain from participating in an item of business 
before the council. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by all decision 
makers and to provide guidance on the potential requirement to 
withdraw from a meeting where a declarable interest, bias or 
predetermination exists. 

  

53

Agenda Item 7



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Vikki Slade (Leader of the Council) 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe (Corporate Director Resources) 

Report Authors Richard Jones (Head of Democratic Services) 

Wards  Authority-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. This report is being brought back to the Committee following deferral from the 
meeting held on 9 July 2019. The committee requested that the guidance flowchart 
be re-drafted following further consultation with members of the committee. 

2. A workshop with members of the committee was held on 2 October 2019 which 
included a constructive review of the flowchart. The revised version attached is 
considered to reflect the views expressed at the workshop.  

Maintaining High Standards of Conduct 

3. The Standards Committee has statutory responsibility for promoting and maintaining 
high standards of conduct of councillors, including the provision of advice and 
guidance to all councillors on their declaration of interests. 

4. The responsibility of councillors to declared interests, bias or predetermination falls 
wholly upon the individual councillor. Guidance may be provided by the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer in relation to specific enquiries in advance of meetings. 

5. However, occasionally councillors will become aware at a meeting that they may 
have an interest in a matter, either from information within the report or from 
information provided at the meeting, and as a consequence seeks the guidance of 
the Democratic Services Officer. 

6. Whilst the Democratic Services Officer will always seek to provide immediate 
advice, it can be difficult to do so without necessarily appreciating all the facts and 
thus appearing to shift responsibility from the individual councillor to the officer 
concerned. There are risks associated with the provision of advice in such 
circumstances to the officer and councillor concerned. 

Guidance Flowchart 

7. The Committee is asked to consider the revised flowchart which is attached to this 
report at Appendix 1. The flowchart is designed to provide guidance to a councillor 
to determine whether they have an interest in an item and if so, what course of 
action they should take. 

8. If supported, the flowchart could be appended to all agenda front-sheets for ease of 
reference at any meeting. 

Summary of financial implications 

9. There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

54



Summary of legal implications 

10. Councillors have a legal responsibility to make declarations of interest at meetings of 
the council. Failure to declare an interest could expose both the Councillor and the 
Council to legal challenge and potentially damage the reputation of the Council. 

Summary of human resources implications 

11. There are no additional manpower implications arising from this report.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

12. There are no significant and quantifiable sustainability implications arising from this 
report. Although this will result in additional pages to some agenda and potentially 
paper use, this will be offset by the continued reduction in overall paper copies being 
produced as councillors and officers move towards paperless meetings. 

Summary of public health implications 

13. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications 

14. There are no equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

15. The implementation of the proposed workflow will act as a reminder and provide 
clarity and guidance to individual councillors considering whether they have an 
interest to declare. The use of the flowchart will provide reassurance that 
participation is appropriate and reduce the likelihood of legal challenge. 

Background papers 

Published works   

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Proposed Declaration of Interest Flowchart 

  

55



 

Appendix 1 

56


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Consideration of report in respect of complaint about a councillor
	Enc. 1 for Consideration of report in respect of complaint about a councillor

	6 Code of Conduct Complaints - Review
	7 Declarations of Interest - Guidance Flowchart



